015

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 82,571 DCA NO. 92-2558 SID J. WHITE

SID J. WHITE

OCT 26 1993

CLERK, SUPREME COURE

By

Chief Deputy Clerk

KENNY ALSTON,

Petitioner,

-vs-

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON APPLICATION FOR DISCRETIONARY JURISDICTION

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

BENNETT H. BRUMMER
Public Defender
Eleventh Judicial Circuit
of Florida
1320 N.W. 14th Street
Miami, Florida 33125
(305) 545-1961

VALERIE JONAS Assistant Public Defender Florida Bar No. 616079

Counsel for Petitioner

INTRODUCTION

The Petitioner herein requests that this Court grant discretionary review based on an express and direct conflict between the majority decision of the Third District Court of Appeal and the decision of the Second District Court of Appeal in Jones v. State, 348 So. 2d 942 (Fla. 2d DCA 1977), written by then-Judge Grimes for the Court, on the same question of law. The symbol "A" will be used to refer to portions of the appendix attached hereto.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Mr. Alston was charged with violating the condition of community control that he not use intoxicants to excess.¹,² (A. 1). To establish this violation, the state presented evidence that Mr. Alston tested positive for cocaine use. (A. 2). The trial court revoked Mr. Alston's community control on the basis of this evidence.

In Jones v. State, 348 So. 2d 942 (Fla. 2d DCA 1977), the defendant's probation was revoked for violating the same provision, upon proof of his admission to ingesting marijuana. In reversing the revocation, then-Judge Grimes noted that the conduct proved, though criminal, was not the conduct charged:

The proof of appellant's violation of the other condition consisted of the supervisor testifying that appellant had told him that he had smoked marijuana shortly before his arrest. While smoking marijuana is a crime and testimony of appellant's admission would not constitute hearsay; the fact remains that appellant was charged with violating the condition that he should not use intoxicants to excess and should not visit places where intoxicants, drugs or dangerous substances are unlawfully used. The evidence failed to show

You will not use intoxicants to excess; nor will you visit places where intoxicants, drugs, or other dangerous substances are unlawfully sold, dispensed or used unlawfully.

(A. 4, fn. 1).

The violation alleged in full:

He was also charged with failing to work diligently, a basis upon which the trial court relied in revoking his community control. (A. 1-2). The district court of appeal held that the evidence presented did not establish a violation of this condition, and struck the finding of this violation. (A. 2-3).

that appellant violated this condition. The suggestion that appellant had to be some place when he smoked the marijuana and, therefore, this was a place where drugs were being unlawfully used is unconvincing. The conduct established by appellant's admission does not appear to be that which is intended to be proscribed by the condition which he was charged with violating.

348 So. 2d at 943.

On appeal, Mr. Alston argued, citing Jones, that a positive cocaine test "does not prove the type of conduct the 'excessive use of intoxicants' condition is intended to proscribe." (A. 2). A majority of the district court of appeal disagreed, concluding that evidence of Mr. Alston's cocaine use was sufficient to establish a violation of that condition, citing Scott v. State, 524 So. 2d 1148 (Fla. 3d DCA 1988), in which evidence that the defendant was "staggering down the street in an intoxicated state inhaling automobile transmission fluid" was sufficient to establish a violation of the same condition. Scott, 524 So. 2d at 1148 (emphasis supplied). (A. 2).

Judge Ferguson dissented, noting that "[t]his case is practically on all fours with Jones v. State, 348 So. 2d 942 (Fla. 2d DCA 1977), where it was held, in an opinion by Judge Grimes, that evidence that the probationer had smoked marijuana was insufficient to show a violation" of this condition; and that, unlike the Scott case relied upon by the majority, here "[t]here was no evidence that Alston used any substance 'to excess', a phrase which presupposes that there is some permissible level of indulgence." (A. 5).

QUESTION PRESENTED

WHETHER THE MAJORITY DECISION OF THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL IN THIS CASE IS IN EXPRESS AND DIRECT CONFLICT WITH THE DECISION OF THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL IN JONES V. STATE, 348 So. 2d 942 (Fla. 2d DCA 1977)?

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The majority decision of the Third District Court of Appeal expressly and directly conflicts with the decision of the Second District Court of Appeal in Jones v. State, 348 So. 2d 942 (Fla. 2d DCA 1977), because the former decided that bare evidence of the use of an illegal substance was sufficient to establish a violation of the condition that a probationer "not use intoxicants to excess," and the latter decided that such evidence alone does not suffice to establish a violation of this condition.

ARGUMENT

THE MAJORITY DECISION OF THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL IN THIS CASE IS IN EXPRESS AND DIRECT CONFLICT WITH THE DECISION OF THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL IN JONES V. STATE, 348 So. 2d 942 (Fla. 2d DCA 1977).

The majority decision of the Third District Court of Appeal expressly and directly conflicts with the decision of the Second District Court of Appeal in Jones v. State, 348 So. 2d 942 (Fla. 2d DCA 1977). In Jones, then-Judge Grimes, for the Court, wrote that proof that a probationer has used an illegal substance, although this is a crime, is not a violation of the condition proscribing the use of intoxicants to excess. In this case, the majority decided that proof of Mr. Alston's use of an illegal substance established a violation of the same condition. As Judge Ferguson noted in dissent, Jones is "practically on all fours" with the subject case.

The Alston majority does not purport to distinguish Jones, and relies instead on Scott v. State, 524 So. 2d 1148 (Fla. 3d DCA 1988), in which evidence that the defendant was "staggering down the street in an intoxicated state inhaling automobile transmission fluid" was deemed sufficient to establish a violation of this condition. 524 So. 2d at 1148 (emphasis supplied). In contrast, in the subject case, as in Jones, there was no evidence that the substance ingested by the probationer, either in its nature or

This proof may be sufficient to prove a different violation, e.g. of the condition that the probationer remain at liberty without violating the law. But probation cannot of course be revoked for an uncharged violation. Moser v. State, 523 So. 2d 783 (Fla. 5th DCA 1988).

quantity or effect, was excessive, or caused him to become intoxicated.4

Because the *Jones* decision is indistinguishable from that at issue, and directly and expressly conflicts with it, this case falls squarely within this Court's conflict jurisdiction, see Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)(2)(iv).

The majority also relied upon Hogan v. State, 583 So. 2d 426 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991), and Harrington v. State, 570 So. 2d 1140 (Fla. 4th DCA 1990), for the proposition that, contrary to Judge Ferguson's dissenting opinion, cocaine is an intoxicant. In neither case does the court expressly decide whether cocaine is an intoxicant; in neither case was the court apparently asked to do so.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing, the petitioner respectfully requests this Court to grant discretionary review in this case.