095

SID J. WHITE

NOV 22 1993

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 82,571

DCA NO. 92-2556

KENNY ALSTON,

Petitioner,

-vs-

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

### ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

## BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON JURISDICTION

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

LINDA S. KATZ
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar No. 0672378
Department of Legal Affairs
Office of Attorney General
Post Office Box 013241
Miami, Florida 33101
(305) 377-5441

#

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS
SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT 4
ARGUMENT
THE MAJORITY DECISION OF THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL DOES NOT EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY CONFLICT WITH THE DECISION OF THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL IN JONES v. STATE, 348 So. 2d 942 (Fla. 2d DCA 1977)5
CONCLUSION 9
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 9

# TABLE OF CITATIONS

Harringto	on v. S	State,							_	
Harringto 570	So. 20	d 1140	(Fla.	4th DO	CA 1990	))	• • • • •	 • • •	6	,7
Hogan v.	State	,							_	_
Hogan v. 583	So. 2	d 426	(Fla.	1st DCA	l 1991)			 • • •	6	, 1
Jones v.	State	,								
Jones v. 348	So. 20	d 942	(Fla.	2d DCA	1977)			 	4,5	· <b>,</b> 8
			`		•					
Scott v.	State									
Scott v. 524	SQ 2	á 1148	(Fla.	. 3d DCA	1988			 		. 6

# INTRODUCTION

The Respondent, THE STATE OF FLORIDA, shall refer to the parties in the posture as they appear in before this Court. The symbol "A" will be used to refer to portions of the appendix attached to the Petitioner's brief.

# QUESTION PRESENTED

WHETHER THE MAJORITY DECISION OF THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY CONFLICTS WITH THE DECISION OF THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL IN JONES V. STATE, 348 So. 2d 942 (Fla. 2d DCA 1977)?

# STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The Respondent accepts the Petitioner's rendition of the case and facts, as set forth in his brief, as a substantially accurate account of the proceedings below.

### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The instant case does not expressly and directly conflict with Jones v. State, 348 So. 2d 942 (Fla. 2d DCA 1977). from the fact that the Petitioner and Jones were both charged with violating the same condition of probation/community control, the cases are factually and legally distinguishable. glaring distinction is the fact that the decision in the instant case is founded upon the Petitioner's violation of the first portion of the condition, based upon use of an intoxicant, whereas Jones involves a violation of the second portion of the condition involving the defendant's presence in a place where intoxicants, drugs or dangerous substances are unlawfully used. Moreover, subsequent to Jones, the case law has acknowledged that cocaine is an intoxicant for the purpose of probation revocation. Accordingly, the vast factual and legal distinctions between these cases make it impossible for them to be deemed in direct and express conflict with each other.

#### ARGUMENT

THE MAJORITY DECISION OF THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL DOES NOT EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY CONFLICT WITH THE DECISION OF THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL IN JONES v. STATE, 348 So. 2d 942 (Fla. 2d DCA 1977).

The Petitioner argues that the lower court's decision is in conflict with <u>Jones v. State</u>, 348 So. 2d 942 (Fla. 2d DCA 1977). The Petitioner's argument is without merit, as the instant case is factually and legally distinguishable from <u>Jones</u>. The one similarity, however, is that both cases involve a probation/community control revocation for violation of the following condition:

You will not use intoxicants to excess; nor will you visit places where intoxicants, drugs or other dangerous substances are unlawfully sold, dispensed or used unlawfully.

Jones involved the revocation of defendant's probation based upon proof of the defendant's admission to smoking marijuana. In Jones, the State argued that the alleged violation was of the second part of the condition which prohibits one to visit places where intoxicants, drugs or dangerous substances are unlawfully used. The appellate court found the state's argument to be unconvincing and ultimately reversed the trial court's order revoking probation.

As opposed to <u>Jones</u>, the opinion in the instant action was based on the legal principle that cocaine is an intoxicant and that the test results indicating the Petitioner's use of cocaine constituted a violation of the subject condition. As authority for its decision, the court cited to <u>Scott v. State</u>, 524 So. 2d 1148 (Fla. 3d DCA 1988). Moreover, the court addressed the dissent, which the Petitioner cites as support for his position, and stated that its reliance on a definition of intoxicants which is limited to alcohol is misplaced.

Although <u>Jones</u> has not been reversed, its application to the instant action is limited, as subsequent case law has clearly considered cocaine to be an intoxicant for the purpose of violation of the subject condition in probation cases. <u>Hogan v. State</u>, 583 So. 2d 426 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991) and <u>Harrington v. State</u>, 570 So. 2d 1140 (Fla. 4th DCA 1990).

that neither of The Petitioner has stated the aforementioned cases contain an express decision as to whether cocaine is an intoxicant. Although they do not expressly make such a finding, a plain reading of the cases provides little doubt that cocaine is considered an intoxicant for the purpose of probation violation. Hogan involved an allegation of a violation subject condition based upon a lab report of defendant's urine samples. The defendant challenged the testing and reporting procedure.

The Hogan opinion dealt with the principle that hearsay is admissible in probation revocation, but cannot be the sole basis for revocation. However, the business records exception may apply to lab results if they are kept in the course of a regularly conducted business activity and the making of the reports must be a regular practice of that business activity. The samples were held to be inadmissible hearsay because they state could not testify as to the making of the report. Therefore, because there was no other direct evidence that the condition was violated, and hearsay cannot be the sole basis of revocation, the community control could not be revoked based on Hogan at 427. However, it is clearly inferred said violation. that if the samples met the definition as to the hearsay they no doubt could have been the basis revocation. If this was not so, the court would not have devoted such a lengthy discourse to the issue of the lab samples.

The court in <u>Harrington</u> reversed a revocation order because the trial court's written order was at variance with its oral pronouncements and because the affidavit charging the defendant with using intoxicants specified that the intoxicant was cocaine, but the defendant admitted to smoking marijuana. Nevertheless, like <u>Hogan</u>, the opinion contains a clear inference that cocaine is considered an intoxicant and that but for the technical deficiencies, proof of use of same would constitute a violation of the subject condition. Harrington at 142.

The facts contained in the Third District's decision reflect that the case was decided upon the fact that the violation involved the use of intoxicants, as opposed to <u>Jones</u>, which alleged a violation for being someplace where drugs were unlawfully used. Moreover, the case law subsequent to <u>Jones</u> considered cocaine an intoxicant for purposes of probation violations. Accordingly, it must be concluded that the decision of the lower court does not expressly and directly conflict with the decision of this Second District Court of Appeals in <u>Jones</u>.

## CONCLUSION

As indicated by the foregoing facts, authorities and reasoning, the lower court's decision does not expressly and directly conflict with any decision of this Court or of another District Court of Appeal. Thus, this Court lacks jurisdiction for any proceedings and the petition to invoke discretionary jurisdiction should be denied.